THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-In-Equity

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-001842  
Case No. 2013-CP-10-3901

---

**RECEIVED**  
AUG 31 2017  
SC Court of Appeals

Charleston Electrical Services, Inc. and Selective Insurance  
Company of South Carolina as Subrogee of  
Charleston Electrical Services, Inc., ..... Appellants,

v.

Wanda G. Rahall..... Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

---

Andrew F. Lindemann  
DAVIDSON & LINDEMANN, P.A.  
1611 Devonshire Drive  
Post Office Box 8568  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202  
(803) 806-8222

*Counsel for Appellant*

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in finding that the Respondent Wanda Rahall did not owe a duty to warn or protect her elderly mother under the facts of this case?
  - A. Did the trial court err in finding that the Respondent Wanda Rahall did not owe a duty to warn or protect her elderly mother under a premises liability theory?
  - B. Did the trial court err in finding that the Respondent Wanda Rahall did not owe a duty to warn or protect her elderly mother under a "special relationship" theory?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action for contribution. The Appellant Charleston Electrical Services, Inc. ("CES") was sued by Elsie Mae Rabon for injuries that she sustained upon being attacked, knocked to the ground, and injured by a German Shepherd dog on the premises located at 60 Romney Street, Charleston, South Carolina on August 20, 2010. In settlement of that civil action, the Appellant CES agreed to pay the sum of \$200,000.00 to Elsie Mae Rabon in exchange for a full and final release of all liability executed by Elsie Mae Rabon on July 11, 2012. The Release executed by Elsie Mae Rabon extinguished the liability of the Respondent Wanda G. Rahall as well. (R. 128). The action captioned *Rabon v. Charleston Electrical Services, Inc.*, Civil Action Number 2010-CP-10-10666, was dismissed by Stipulation of Dismissal filed July 31, 2012. (R. 133). The Appellant Selective Insurance Company of South Carolina is subrogated to the rights of CES.

A bench trial was held in Charleston County on June 17, 2016, before Judge Mikell R. Scarborough, the Master-in-Equity. The Appellants initially pled claims for contribution and equitable indemnity. At the call of the case, the Appellants voluntarily withdrew their equitable indemnity claim. The parties presented the facts of the case by way of stipulated facts as well as deposition testimony and exhibits. No live witnesses were called at trial. The trial proceeding consisted solely of arguments presented by counsel.

By Order filed August 2, 2016, Judge Scarborough ruled that no duty of care was owed by Wanda Rahall to Elsie Rabon pursuant to the facts as he found them. He found no liability under either a premises liability theory or a special relationship theory. (R. 3-19).

Subsequently, the Appellants filed a timely appeal.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

This action arises out of events occurring on August 20, 2010, when Elsie Rabon, the elderly mother of the Respondent Wanda Rahall, was visiting her daughter and her daughter's fiancée, George Kornahrens, and was injured when she was jumped upon and pushed down by Gunner, a German Shepherd on the premises.

CES is located at 60 Romney Street. Kornahrens was the owner of those premises. (R. 122). He leased a portion of the premises to CES, but he also resided in an apartment at the premises together with the Respondent Rahall. (R. 122-123). In her deposition, Rahall testified that she and Kornahrens had been "together" since May 2005, and that they had been engaged for the previous four years. (R. 281). Rahall testified that during 2010, she resided at 60 Romney Street "all the time" but then further explained that she had "really been staying here I would say 70 percent of the time since 2008." (R. 282). Rahall also described 60 Romney Street as "where we live, me and George." (R. 304). In addition, Rahall had her own key to the apartment and was able to come and go as she pleased. (R. 317, 340). She also permanently kept clothes and other personal effects at the apartment. (R. 319).

On August 20, 2010, Elsie Rabon was a social guest at 60 Romney Street. Rahall testified as follows:

Q. So on August 20th, 2010, [Rabon] would have been a social guest?

A. Yes.

Q. She was staying as a guest with you and George at

A. Yeah, she always stays with us at 60 Romney Street. That's where we live, me and George.

Q. So when she came to visit, she'd stay with you?

A. Yes. Always.

(R. 304).

On August 20, 2010, Elsie Rabon was visiting her daughter and Kornahrens. Rabon had arrived the day before (August 19), but had no interaction with the dog Gunner on that date. (R. 288). According to Rahall, Rabon knew that Kornahrens had a new dog, but she had not been around that particular dog. (R. 287-288). Rabon has never seen the dog before. (R. 321). Rahall, on the other hand, was very familiar with Gunner. She was aware that Gunner was "overly friendly" and that he would routinely jump on people – with that occurring even daily. Rahall testified that the dog had done the same to her several times and that she had frequently seen the dog jump up on other people before the August 20, 2010 incident. (R. 285-286).. In fact, the dog had jumped up on her "a couple times the week before." (R. 326).

On August 20, 2010, Rahall had a 10:00 a.m. medical appointment with her chiropractor in Charleston. Her mother accompanied her to that appointment. Afterward, they returned to 60 Romney Street to get Kornahrens to go to lunch. Rabon and Rahall entered the premises. Rahall went to look for George and found him outside in the backyard where the dog was kept. After a few minutes, Rabon came outside looking for Rahall and Kornahrens. The dog had been released from his chain before they arrived. After Rabon came into the backyard, Gunner jumped up on Rabon and knocked her to the ground. As a result of that fall, Rabon sustained serious injuries including a broken hip and injured ankle. (R. 289-290, 295).

Rahall testified that she did not direct her mother not to come into the backyard behind the premises, nor did she take any action to prevent her from doing so. That is true even after she realized that Gunner was not chained. She had likewise not warned Rabon about the dog's tendencies or that it was "over friendly" or in general to be careful around the dog. (R. 325-330). Rahall took no action at any point to warn or protect her mother from what she should have recognized as a dangerous condition on the premises.

## ARGUMENTS

### **I. Standard of Review – Factual Findings**

This is an action for contribution. It is well settled that "an action for contribution lies in equity." *RIM Associates v. Blackwell*, 359 S.C. 170, 597 S.E.2d 152, 157, n.3 (Ct. App. 2004). See also, *Few v. Few*, 239 S.C. 321, 122 S.E.2d 829, 835 (1961) (noting that "the right to contribution is ordinarily enforced in equity").

In an action in equity, the appellate court "may find facts in accordance with [its] own view of the preponderance of the evidence." *South Carolina Dept. of Transportation v. M&T Enterprises of Mt. Pleasant*, 379 S.C. 645, 667 S.E.2d 7, 12 (Ct. App. 2008). Typically, in equity actions, an appellate court will not disregard the findings of the trial judge because he/she "saw and heard the witnesses and was in a better judge position to judge their credibility." *Id.* However, that is not the case here. Judge Scarborough heard this case non-jury, but no live witnesses were presented by the parties. Hence, Judge Scarborough did not see or hear any witnesses, nor did he have the ability to judge the credibility of the witnesses in any manner or position better than this appellate court can. This Court should therefore disregard the findings by the trial judge under the prevailing

standard of review and should find facts based upon its own view of the preponderance of the evidence.

**II. The trial court erred in finding that the Respondent Wanda Rahall did not owe any duty to warn or protect her elderly mother under the facts of this case.**

In entering judgment for the Respondent Rahall, Judge Scarborough found that Rahall did not owe a duty of care to her mother, Elsie Rabon, under the facts as determined by the trial court. The Appellants contend that Rahall owed a duty of care to her elderly mother under either of two distinct theories, both of which were erroneously rejected by Judge Scarborough. First, the Appellants argue that Rahall owed a duty as the possessor of the property where the dog lived and where her mother was a social guest invited there by Rahall. Second, and in the alternative, the Appellants argue that a duty of care was owed to Elsie Rabon based upon a special relationship.

**A. Premises Liability Theory**

The liability of Rahall for the injuries sustained by her mother, Elsie Rabon, is governed by premises liability law. Rabon was a social guest or licensee present on the 60 Romney Street premises in order to visit Rahall and her fiancée, George

Kornahrens, both of whom resided there. Under South Carolina premises liability law, the possessor of property "owes a licensee a duty to use reasonable care to discover the licensee, to conduct activities on the land so as not to harm the licensee, and to warn the licensee of any concealed dangerous conditions or activities." *Singleton v. Sherer*, 377 S.C. 185, 659 S.E.2d 196, 204 (Ct. App. 2008). The South Carolina Supreme Court has explained:

The possessor is under no obligation to exercise care to make the premises safe for his reception, and is under no duty toward him except:

(a) To use reasonable care to discover him and avoid injury to him in carrying on activities upon the land.

(b) To use reasonable care to warn him of any *concealed dangerous conditions* or activities which are known to the possessor, or of any change in the condition of the premises which may be dangerous to him, and which he may reasonably be expected to discover.

*Neil v. Byrum*, 288 S.C. 472, 343 S.E.2d 615, 616 (1986), *citing Frankel v. Kurtz*, 239 F.Supp. 713, 717 (W.D.S.C. 1965). (Emphasis in original).

Judge Scarborough concluded that Rahall did not owe any duty of care to Elsie Rabon because Rahall had no ownership interest in CES or in the 60 Romney Street premises. He ruled that "Rahall had no right to possess or control any portion of the Property." (R. 16-17). Furthermore, in error, Judge Scarborough described Rahall herself as "an invited guest in the Apartment" because she "paid no rent, utilities or taxes on the Apartment." (R. 17). Thus, he concluded that

Rahall, like her mother, was a social guest at the premises.

Importantly, Judge Scarborough's fact-finding is directly contrary to the evidence from Rahall's own sworn testimony. It is undisputed that Rahall's fiancée, George Kornahrens, was the owner of the premises located at 60 Romney Street. He leased a portion of the premises to CES, but he also resided in an apartment at the premises together with Wanda Rahall. In her deposition, Rahall testified that she and Kornahrens had been "together" since May 2005, and that they had been engaged to marry for the previous four years. (R. 281). Rahall testified that during 2010, she resided at 60 Romney Street "all the time" but then further explained that she had "really been staying here I would say 70 percent of the time since 2008." (R. 282). Rahall also described 60 Romney Street as "where we live, me and George." (R. 304).. In addition, Rahall had her own key to the apartment and was able to come and go as she pleased. (R. 317, 340). She also permanently kept clothes and other personal effects at the apartment. (R. 319).

Importantly, Rahall never described herself as a social guest on the premises or someone who only occasionally was on the premises. Thus, consistent with premises liability law, Rahall qualified as a "possessor" or "occupier" of the property, and thus, owed a duty of care to her mother, as a social guest, as the law requires. A duty of care is not owed only by the person or entity that actually owns or has a legal interest in the premises, as the trial court erroneously concluded, but also is owed by a person that regularly lives at the premises, which explains why

South Carolina case law addresses the duty owed by a "possessor" rather than an "owner." Judge Scarborough, in fact, entirely disregarded the existing South Carolina case law, such as the seminal case of *Neil v. Byrum* as cited above, where a duty was held to be owed by the "possessor" of property. Ownership interest or other legal interest in the property is not determinative of who owes a duty of care as to real property.

Judge Scarborough further erred in treating the premises consisting of 60 Romney Street as distinct parts so as to conclude that Rahall, even if a possessor of the apartment where she lived with Kornahrens, was not a possessor of the remainder of the premises such as the yard where the dog Gunner lived. The apartment and the shop were part of the same building and shared the yard, all of which was owned by Kornahrens, to whom Rahall was engaged and with whom she was living. For premises liability purposes, the yard should not be distinguished or dissected from the remainder of the premises. The possessors of the premises as a whole include Rahall given that she was not some transitory guest, as the trial court makes her appear.

Moreover, the Appellants demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that the dog Gunner constituted a dangerous condition on the premises and that Elsie Rabon had not previously been around the dog and was unaware that the dog

posed a danger to her.<sup>1</sup> On August 20, 2010, Rabon was visiting her daughter and Kornahrens. Rabon had arrived the day before (August 19), but had no interaction with the dog on that date. (R. 288). According to Rahall, Rabon knew that Kornahrens had a new dog, but she had not been around that particular dog. (R. 287-288). Rabon has never seen the dog before. (R. 321).. Rahall, on the other hand, was very familiar with Gunner. She was aware that Gunner was "overly friendly" and that he would routinely jump on people – with that occurring even daily. Rahall testified that the dog had done the same to her several times and that she had frequently seen the dog jump up on other people before the August 20, 2010 incident. (R. 285-286).. In fact, the dog had jumped up on her "a couple times the week before." (R. 326).

Rahall therefore knew or should have known that the dog presented a risk of harm to Elsie Rabon and should have taken steps to warn Rabon and/or prevent her

---

<sup>1</sup> The trial court erroneously ruled that the dog "is not a defective condition upon the land" and thus "an injury caused by a dog is not actionable under premises liability at common law." (R. 16). The trial court's ruling in this regard is erroneous for several reasons. First, the Supreme Court case law addresses "concealed dangerous conditions *or activities*," which would include the presence of a dangerous animal. *See, Neil v. Byrum*, 288 S.C. 472, 343 S.E.2d 615, 616 (1986). (Emphasis added) Second, prior to the enactment of Section 47-3-110 as a strict liability statute, there were cases involving dog-related injuries that were tried and won under a premises liability or negligence theory. *See, Hossenlopp v. Cannon*, 285 S.C. 367, 329 S.E.2d 438 (1985). Third, in *Roe v. Bibby*, 410 S.C. 287, 763 S.E.2d 645 (Ct. App. 2014), this Court suggested that criminal acts on the premises may also give rise to premises liability claims. That is also true with respect to *Burns v. South Carolina Commission for the Blind*, 323 S.C. 77, 448 S.E.2d 589 (Ct. App. 1994), where this Court found that a case involving a sexual assault, contrary to the trial court's ruling, "is a premises liability case." 448 S.E.2d at 591. Thus, contrary to Judge Scarborough's ruling, dangerous activities on the premises, such as those caused by a dog, are actionable under a premises liability theory.

from coming outside where the dog was located. Rahali also should have made certain that Gunner was chained or otherwise restrained before allowing her mother to walk outside. Even after noting that Gunner was not chained, Rahall took no action to warn or protect her mother although she had the opportunity to do so. Rahall did not make certain her mother stayed away from the yard, nor did Rahall warn her mother of the dog's presence and that he was unrestrained.

In sum, under South Carolina premises liability law, Wanda Rahall, as a "possessor" of the premises where she was living on a regular basis owed a duty to her elderly mother – the social guest on the premises – to warn her of a dangerous condition or activity on the premises. Judge Scarborough erred in his fact-finding and in failing to find that a duty of care was owed by Rahall to her mother under these facts.

#### **B. Special Relationship**

In addition to owing a duty of care as a "possessor" or "occupier" of the premises, the Appellants presented an alternative theory as the legal basis for a duty of care to be owed by Wanda Rahall. "Under South Carolina law, there is no general duty to control the conduct of another or to warn a third person or potential victim of danger." *Doe v. Wal-Mart, Inc.*, 393 S.C. 240, 711 S.E.2d 908, 911 (2011). The Supreme Court, however, has recognized five exceptions to this

general rule, and one of those exceptions is "where the defendant has a special relationship to the victim." *Faile v. South Carolina Dept. of Juvenile Justice*, 350 S.C. 315, 334, 566 S.E.2d 536, 546 (2002). (Emphasis added).

The preponderance of the evidence reflects a "special relationship" between Rahall and Rabon. Rabon was Rahall's elderly mother who was invited to the premises for a visit. Rabon had been living in an assisted living facility for a number of years. Rabon would not have been at the premises but for that mother-daughter relationship. Most importantly, Rahall had the ability to monitor, supervise and control her mother's actions on the premises and could have prevented her from entering the backyard of the premises where the dog was located. Based upon the "special relationship" between them, Rahall owed a duty to protect Rabon from the risk of harm posed by going into the backyard where Gunner was located. At the very least, she owed her mother a duty to warn her that the dog would routinely jump on people and could potentially injure her mother when not restrained.

In entering judgment for the Respondents on this alternative theory of liability, Judge Scarborough based undue reliance on this Court's decision in *Roe v. Bibby*, 410 S.C. 287, 763 S.E.2d 645 (Ct. App. 2014). In that case, this Court addressed whether a wife owed a duty of care to her neighbors and their children to warn about her husband who was allegedly a sexual predator. This Court in *Roe* addressed only whether there was a special relationship between Mrs. Bibby and

perpetrator and *not* between Mrs. Bibby and victims. Ultimately, this Court in *Roe* found no special relationship because there was no evidence that Mrs. Bibby had knowledge of a specific threat of harm posed by her husband and because there was no evidence that Mrs. Bibby had the ability to monitor, supervise or control her husband.

Judge Scarborough's reliance on *Bibby* is misplaced because this case involves a special relationship between Wanda Rahall and the victim (her elderly mother). That is a critical distinction that was disregarded by Judge Scarborough. To reiterate, in *Roe*, this Court addressed the "special relationship" exception from the perspective of Mrs. Bibby's ability to monitor, supervise or control the conduct of the *perpetrator* rather than the *victims*. There is no question in *Roe* that Mrs. Bibby did not have a special relationship with the neighborhood children who were victimized. She clearly had no ability to monitor, supervise or control the victims. This case is different. Wanda Rahall had the special relationship with her mother; she had the ability to monitor, supervise and control her mother's actions on the premises to keep her from coming into contact with the dog, but she did not do so.

In addition to *Roe*, Judge Scarborough cited many cases from other jurisdictions, but none of those cases is on point. None of those cases addresses whether the relationship of an adult child and elderly parent creates a special relationship under facts similar to those in this case. None of those cases even address whether a parent-child relationship creates a duty to protect. Yet, clearly a

parent-child relationship is such a special relationship that may give rise to liability where the parent acts in such a manner to subject a child to a dangerous condition and/or otherwise fails to protect the child from danger. *See, State v. Claypoole*, 371 S.C. 473, 639 S.E.2d 466, 468 (Ct. App. 2006) (court "acknowledged the nature of the parent-child relationship places a legal duty upon the parent to take all reasonable steps to protect the child from harm"). *See also, Brewer v. Murray*, 292 P.3d 41, 50 (Okla. Ct. App. 2012) ("[a] uniformly recognized special relationship is that which exists between parent and child"). Similarly, the relationship between an adult child and an elderly parent under the facts as presented in this case gives rise to a special relationship that creates a duty to warn or otherwise protect the elderly parent from a danger that was known or should have been known to the adult child.

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