IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

SEP 23 2019

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Master in Equity  
The Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2013-CP-10-3901

Appellate Case No. 2016-001842

Charleston Electrical Services, Inc., and Selective  
Insurance Company of South Carolina, as subrogee  
of Charleston Electrical Services, Inc. .... Appellants,

v.

Wanda G. Rahall, ..... Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

AUG 30 2017

SC Court of Appeals

**PRITCHARD LAW GROUP, LLC**

Edward K. Pritchard, III, Esquire

Bar No. 9710

Elizabeth F. Fulton, Esquire

Bar No. 100611

129 Broad Street (29401)

Post Office Box 620

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

## ARGUMENT

**I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY ENTERED JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF RESPONDENT, WANDA RAHALL, AS SHE OWED NO DUTY TO ELSIE MAE RABON AND, THEREFORE, WAS NOT NEGLIGENT, AS A MATTER OF LAW, AND, THEREFORE, APPELLANTS ARE PRECLUDED FROM RECOVERING CONTRIBUTION FROM RESPONDENT.**

To recover contribution from Rahall, Appellants must establish that Rahall shares “common liability” for the damages suffered by Rabon. *See* Section 15-38-40(D), CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, as amended. Because Rahall owed Rabon no duty of care, there is no liability arising from negligence and thus, Appellants’ claim for contribution fails.

In order to establish negligence, a plaintiff must show: (1) the defendant owed a duty of care to the plaintiff; (2) defendant breached the duty by a negligent act or omission; (3) defendant's breach was the actual and proximate cause of the plaintiff's injury; and (4) plaintiff suffered an injury or damages. *Steinke v. S.C. Dep't of Labor, Licensing & Regulation*, 336 S.C. 373, 387, 520 S.E.2d 142, 149 (1999) (“The court must determine, as a matter of law, whether the law recognizes a particular duty. If there is no duty, then the defendant in a negligence action is entitled to a directed verdict.”). An essential element in a cause of action for negligence is the existence of a legal duty owed by the defendant to the plaintiff; in the absence of a duty, there can be no negligence. *Huggins v. Citibank, N.A.*, 355 S.C. 329, 332, 585 S.E.2d 275, 276 (2003). “A legal duty is that which the law requires to be done or forbore with respect to a particular individual or the public at large. Without a violation of such a legal duty, there is no negligence.” *Byerly v. Conner*, 307 S.C. 441, 443, 415 S.E.2d 796, 798 (1992)(citation omitted).

**a. Premises Liability.**

Appellants seek to impose liability on Rahall for premises liability. The trial court

correctly found that no such liability exists as Rahall owed Rabon no duty to warn her of or protect her from Gunner.

A premises liability action is one sounding in tort. *See Shipes v. Piggly-Wiggly St. Andrews, Inc.*, 269 S.C. 479, 238 S.E.2d 167 (1977). As in any other tort action, in order to prevail, a plaintiff in a premises liability case must establish by a preponderance of the evidence that: (1) the defendant owed the a plaintiff a duty, (2) the defendant breached such duty and (3) the defendant's breach of such duty proximately caused the plaintiff damages. *Id.*

As a threshold matter, an injury caused by a dog is not actionable under premises liability at common law as the dog is not a defective condition upon the land. Although Appellants reference South Carolina case law in support of their position that dogs are a defective condition, none of the authority cited makes any such contention. In *Neil v. Byrum*, 288 S.C. 472, 474, 343 S.E. 2d 615, 616 (1986), the South Carolina Supreme Court ruled that steps and their location on the land were neither latent nor concealed to trigger a duty of care between a landowner and a licensee. There is no mention of animals in the opinion.

Appellants erroneously argue that prior to the enactment of Section 47-3-110, CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, there were cases involving dog-related injuries that were tried under a premises liability theory, but the case cited does not support this assertion. In *Hossenlopp v. Cannon*, 285 S.C. 367, 370, 329 S.E. 2d 438, 440 (1985), the South Carolina Supreme Court was tasked with deciding whether the owners of a dog could be found negligent if they lacked knowledge that their dog had dangerous propensities. In affirming the trial court's decision, the Supreme Court noted that the owners' duty arose from statute while also rejecting the "one free bite rule." *Hossenlopp, supra; see also,*

*Harris v. Anderson County Sheriff's Office*, 381 S.C. 357, 360, 673 S.E. 2d 423, 424 (2009)(“In *Hossenlopp*, under our policy-making role in the common law, we rejected the “one free bite rule’ and imposed quasi-strict liability on dog owners by adopting the “California Rule” for dog bite liability... *Hossenlopp* represents the last time the Court addressed a dog bite case in a purely common law setting.”). There is no mention or analysis by the Court discussing dog owners’ liability under a premises liability theory. The Court in no way suggests that the strict liability rule adopted in *Hossenlopp v. Cannon*, *supra*, is in any way restricted to bites occurring on the dog’s owner’s premises.

Appellants incorrectly maintain that this Court’s decision in *Roe v. Bibby*, 410 S.C. 287, 298, 763 S.E. 2d 645, 651 (Ct. App. 2014), *cert. dismissed as improvidently granted*, 417 S.C. 117, 789 S.E.2d 752 (2016), “suggested that criminal acts may also give rise to premises liability claims.” *App. Initial Brief*, p. 12, FN 1<sup>6</sup>. A closer reading of *Roe v. Bibby*, *supra*, expressly rejects that the Court of Appeals would endorse any such claims, stating:

“We find Respondent did not owe Appellants a duty to warn under a premises liability theory. We note no South Carolina cases recognize a duty to warn a licensee with regard to prior criminal acts committed by a third party residing on the premises. ... [A] finding that Respondent had a duty to warn under a premises theory liability in this case could potentially subject homeowners to liability for failure to warn licensees of prior bad conduct, including conduct of a criminal nature, of any persons on the premises.”

*Id.* at 298, 763 S.E. at, 651. Further, *Roe v. Bibby*, *supra*, involved sexual assault; no animal, dog or otherwise, was involved.

---

<sup>6</sup> Appellants reliance on *Burns v. South Carolina Comm'n for the Blind*, 323 S.C. 77, 448 S.E. 2d 589 (Ct. App. 1994), in support of its premises liability argument is also misplaced, as that case involved a duty owed to an invitee as well as a duty arising from a “special relationship” exception, neither of which are applicable in the instant action. *Burns v. South Carolina Comm'n for the Blind*, *supra*, involved sexual assault; no animal, dog or otherwise, was involved.

Under Section 47-3-110(A), CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, as amended, the party liable for a dog "attack" must be either the dog's owner or a person having the dog in his care or keeping, regardless of where the attack occurs. It is undisputed that at all times relevant hereto, CES was the owner and custodian of Gunner at the time of the Incident, that Gunner was in CES's care and keeping when the Incident occurred, and that the Incident occurred on the portion of the Property leased to CES, which was under its possession and control.

CES and Kornahrens maintained possession and control of their respective portions of the Property at the time of the Incident<sup>7</sup>; Rahall never had a right to possess or control

---

<sup>7</sup> Q. As I understand it, you own the building that the business is in?

A. I do.

Q. How long have you owned that building?

A. I guess about 30 some years.

Q. And you rent the first floor to Charleston Electric?

A. Yes, sir, first floor and everything in the yard. We got a building in our back also, a building in the back, supplies in and things like that

Q. And that's rented to the company as well?

A. Yeah, that's rented to the company. Everything on the ground is rented to the company.

Q. What does the company pay you for rent?

A. 3,000 -- I think it's 3,000, 3500 a month. I really don't know.

Q. Is there any type of lease agreement or written agreement?

A. No lease agreement.

Q. And then you live in the second floor apartment?

A. Yes, sir.

R. p.153 – p.154 (emphasis added).

any portion of the Property. As an invited guest in the Apartment, Rahall had no legal right to possess or control the Property, especially the portion leased to CES. Rahall paid no rent, utilities or taxes related to the Apartment. In fact, Rahall continuously maintained a separate residence in Myrtle Beach. Though Rahall was allowed to visit the Apartment at the pleasure of Kornahrens, she had no recognized legal right in and to the Property. She had no legal right to remain there if asked to leave by Kornahrens. She had no right to have another removed from the Property. As Rahall neither owned the Property nor possessed a leasehold interest, she was at most a guest of Kornahrens. *See, Vogt v. Murraywood Swim & Racquet Club*, 357 S.C. 506, 511, 593 S.E.2d 617, 620 (Ct. App. 2004)(holding plaintiff was a licensee on grounds that he was a guest of a dues-paying member, who entered the swim club not by right, but by the permission of the member ... that it is undisputed that he visited the pool only because members invited him and his presence at the pool was entirely permissive). As a mere guest herself, Rahall owed Rabon, another guest, no duty as a matter of law.

Furthermore, even though Kornahrens occupied the Apartment, the remaining portions – the two buildings and the yard – were leased to CES, and, thus were in its exclusive possession and control. Where injury is caused by a dangerous or defective condition on the premises of real estate, the decision of whether a person has an affirmative duty to keep the premises in a safe condition or warn of dangers on the premises “depends in general upon his having control of the property.” *Dunbar v. Charleston & W.C. Ry. Co.*,

---

Kornahrens and CES clearly had a tenancy at will, as defined by Section 27-33-10(3), CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, and thus an enforceable lease agreement existed. *See generally, Bruce v. Durney*, 341 S.C. 563, 569-70, 534 S.E.2d 720, 724 (Ct. App. 2000) (An express agreement is not necessary to create the relation of landlord and tenant, but such relation may arise from the implied agreement of the parties, and may be established by proof of circumstances authorizing the inference that the parties intended to assume such relation toward each other).

211 S.C. at 216, 44 S.E.2d at 317 (1947). Consequently, “[o]ne who controls the use of property has a duty of care not to harm others by its use.” *Miller v. City of Camden*, 329 S.C. 310, 314, 494 S.E.2d 813, 815 (1997) (citing *Dunbar*, 211 S.C. at 216, 44 S.E.2d at 317; *Peden v. Furman Univ.*, 155 S.C. 1, 19, 151 S.E. 907, 913 (1930)). “Conversely, one who has no control owes no duty.” *Id.* (citing *Clark v. Greenville County*, 313 S.C. 205, 210, 437 S.E.2d 117, 119 (1993)). Neither Rahall nor Kornahrens possessed or controlled the portion of the Property leased to CES, so with regard to the portion of the Property leased to CES, no duty attached to either. *See Bruce v. Durney*, 341 S.C. 563, 571, 534 S.E.2d 720, 725 (Ct. App. 2000) (holding a landlord is not liable for injuries caused by an animal kept by a tenant on leased property). As the Incident occurred in the yard, assuming a premises liability claim is even actionable under the facts presented, CES, as tenant, possessor, controller and occupier the yard, was the one who owed Rabon a duty to protect or warn of dangerous conditions.

**b. “Special Relationship” Exception.**

In the alternative, Appellants argue that Rahall owed Rabon, as her mother, a duty to warn and/or protect on the basis that their relationship as adult child and elderly parent created a legally recognized special relationship. Again, the trial court correctly held this argument was meritless.

In the absence of a relationship recognized by law which supports duty to prevent an injury, no such duty is owed. *McCullough v. Goodrich & Pennington Mortg. Fund, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 43, 644 S.E.2d 43 (2007). “An affirmative legal duty exists only if created by statute, contract, relationship, status, property interest, or some other special circumstance.” *Hendricks v. Clemson Univ.*, 353 S.C. 449, 456, 578 S.E.2d 711, 714 (2003). If there is no

duty, the defendant is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. *Moore v. Weinberg*, 373 S.C. 209, 644 S.E.2d 740 (Ct. App. 2007).

In *Faile v. South Carolina Dep't of Juvenile Justice*, 350 S.C. 315, 566 S.E.2d 536 (2002), the Court recognized the following five exceptions to the general rule that there is no general duty to control the conduct of another or to warn a third person or potential victim of danger:

- (1) where the defendant has a special relationship to the victim;
- (2) where the defendant has a special relationship to the injurer;
- (3) where the defendant voluntarily undertakes a duty;
- (4) where the defendant negligently or intentionally creates the risk; and
- (5) where a statute imposes a duty on the defendant.

Appellants have failed to present any case from any jurisdiction holding that a child has a general duty to protect his or her parent from harm presented by the conduct of a third party or an instrumentality not within the custody and control of the child. A review of South Carolina case law reveals that South Carolina courts have recognized a special relationship sufficient to give rise to an affirmative duty to protect or warn another from danger related to the conduct of a third party or an instrumentality not within the custody and control of the person upon whom the duty is imposed in only five limited and narrow circumstances: (1) a group home has a duty to supervise a minor child in its care, *Cunningham ex rel. Grice v. Helping Hands, Inc.*, 352 S.C. 485, 575 S.E.2d 549 (2003); (2) a psychiatrist has a duty to warn her patient of specific known threat of harm from another patient, *Doe v. Marion*, 373 S.C. 390, 645 S.E.2d 245 (2007); (3) the South Carolina Department of Juvenile Justice has a duty to supervise and control a dangerous juvenile in its custody, *Faile v. S.C. Dep't of*

*Juvenile Justice, supra*; (4) the South Carolina Department of Mental Health has a duty to supervise and control an involuntarily-committed patient in its custody, *Bishop v. S.C. Dep't Mental Health*, 331 S.C. 79, 502 S.E.2d 78 (1998); and (5) the South Carolina Department of Parole and Community Corrections has a duty to warn one to whom a specific threat of harm has been directed by a person being released from custody, *Rogers v. S.C. Dep't of Parole & Cmty. Corr.*, 320 S.C. 253, 464 S.E.2d 330 (1995)(no finding of specific threat).

The Court of Appeals decision in *Roe v. Bibby, supra*, is the most recent appellate court pronouncement on special relationships under South Carolina law. In *Roe v. Bibby, supra*, the Court declined the invitation to impose upon a wife a duty to warn minor children living in the neighborhood that her husband had a predilection for sexual molestation, holding that there is no general special relationship between a husband and wife or between the wife of a sexual predator and neighboring children which is sufficient to give rise to such a duty. *Id.* at 293, 763 S.E. 2d at 649. The Court of Appeals based its ruling, in part, on the fact that the wife had no ability to monitor and control her husband. As to the children, the Court of Appeals restated its holding on the fact that the children were not entrusted to the wife's care, and that the wife had no knowledge of a specific threat to the minor children. *Id.* at 296, 763 S.E. 2d at 650.

In each case in which a court found that there was a special relationship sufficient to give rise to an affirmative duty to protect or warn another from danger related to the conduct of a third party or an instrumentality not within the custody and control of the person upon whom the duty is imposed, the case turned on a finding that the person upon whom such duty was imposed either had a responsibility to supervise or an ability to monitor and control either the victim or the perpetrator or instrumentality of the act which gave rise to the injury. *E.g.*,

*Cunningham ex rel. Grice v. Helping Hands, Inc., supra; Roe v. Bibby, supra.*

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